The Moyry Pass

By H. G. Tempest
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[In this article the author is indebted very largely to the following: Professor G. A. Hayes-McCoy's papers, "The Army of Ulster, 1563-1601 " and "The Defence of the Moyry Pass." both in The Sword II, 2 and III 10; Dr Cyril Fall's Mountjoy, an Elizabethan General and Elizabeth's Irish Wars; and Rev. Frederick M. Jones" Mountjoy, 1563-1606. In all of these, readers will find much more detail and general information. The letters in brackets refer to the map on p. 83.]

If one stands at the road junction facing St. Brigid's Stream (A), the “unapproved" road in front of one rises a little, passes on the right the road to Faughart church and graveyard, and continues northward, dropping down into the hollow isolating Faughart Hill, then rising again between Claret Rock on the east and high ground on the west (B) until it comes to the point almost on the modern

"Border" from which it descends rapidly past the shell of Moyry Castle and passes under the railway embankment near Kilnasaggart (C) where runs a stream referred to in the seventeenth century as "the 3 mile water.” 

The same road continues northward from that point, rising and winding until, at Jonesboro' (D), it joins the straight coach road, which falls steeply down to the Half-way House, having crossed the Flurry River, known of old as "the 4 mile water."

In 1600 this route continued from Flurrybridge until it reached the top of the Newry hill. It is indicated on contemporary maps but not with sufficient definitiveness to make us sure of its exact course. The old maps show two "causies" over boggy or marshy ground. We can assume that it kept as far as possible to the small rises. It is tempting to suppose that it followed the old road more or less parallel to and to the west of the modern county road. A few hundred yards south of the Carrickarnon Frontier Post this suggested road diverges (at E on map) and continues northwards until it reaches the Newry-Dromintee road at Cloghoge (F), Quite close to that point a road continues past Heath Hall and over Ballymacdermott mountain. The old maps rather suggest this route.

If this is so, this road for a mile or two south of point F, must have been considerably straightened since those days. On the map accompanying this article the two " causies " are conjecturally marked (6 and 7).

The route from B to D described above was the most difficult part of the old Moyry Pass (or Pace as it was then called) which, at the end of the sixteenth and beginning of the seventeenth centuries, was the most difficult and dangerous way from Dundalk to Newry and, as such, figures in the attempts by Lord Mountjoy, Queen Elizabeth's last viceroy, to subdue Hugh O'Neill, '' Earl of Tyrone," his most skilful and resourceful adversary.

From prehistoric times the only easy corridors from the south to the north of Ireland, because of the central belt of woods, bogs and lakes, were the coastal country along the sea, in the west by Sligo and Ballyshannon, and on the east through County Louth.
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On this latter section the natural physical barrier was the high ground of north Louth and south Armagh. The long uneven ridge of the Fews, supported by Slieve Gullion, the hills of Forkill, Mullabawn, Carrickbroad and Faughart, with the group of mountains now called Clermont Cairn and Ravensdale, formed a continuous highland, hindering the passage from south to north.

The ways through this formerly wooded and difficult barrier were few. One ran north-westward from Dundalk, through the Dorsey encampment and over the bleak Black Bank to Armagh. On its line near Carrigatuke was the " White Cairn of Watching " where the Ulaid outposts kept watch southwards. Along this route wended the funeral of Brian Boroimhe to Armagh after the battle of Clontarf.

A second route, between the steep and thickly-wooded eastern slopes of Fathom and Narrow Water, connected Dundalk, through Carlingford, with Newry.

The fact that the account of an expedition by a former Lord Deputy describes him as having camped at " Maghere Raskeahe " might point to the defile between Carrickbroad Mountain and Forkill as his objective. If so this would form a third route. There is, however, little to justify the word "maghaire " round the old Norman mount at Roskeagh. But the main route in the sixteenth century was known as the Moyry Pass—Bealach an Maighre—the "Gap of the North" (A-F).

In contemporary maps the whole country between the foot of Slieve Gullion and Fathom is lettered " Moirie."

It may have been because of wet marshy ground, thick woods and overlooking heights on either hand that neither the valley of the Ravensdale (Flurry) river nor the marked gap between Claret Rock and Feede mountain through which the railway now runs, appear to have been made use of.

It is just because, being on our doorstep and playing such an important, if subsidiary, part in the Mountjoy-O'Neill struggle, that this article is written to summarize the events of 1600 and to try to relate them to the ground.

To-day, as one goes by car along the little-used road of the Pass from Faughart, it is hard to realize how dangerous it formerly was. What one sees to-day is the bare denuded and deforested remains of what O'NeiIl, with the help of thick woods, made a most difficult defile.

Leaving Dundalk, the oldest road to Newry, once Dundalk bridge was built, diverges to the left at Dowdallshill, opposite the Racecourse Road, winds past Doyle's Fort to White Mills, up the long ridge to St. Brigid's Stream (A) and then into the Pass, already described. It is probable that Mountjoy's army crossed the river at Toberona and went then by the Annies to White Mills.

The physical difficulties along the Pass were in two groups. Firstly, the section between Faughart and the " three mile water " at Kilnasaggart (C). In this part there were dense woods and undergrowth interwoven on each side of a narrow track blocked by three strong barricades (1, 2, 3) at a caliver distance apart and overlooked on each side by higher ground—an ideal place for O'Neill's tactics. After that came the crossing at C of the three mile water, and the rise to Jonesboro' on which were two more strong barricades (4, 5).

Secondly, there was the " broken causie " across the Flurry River and the stretch (E-F) to the top of the Newry hill. Along this there were two "causies" (6, 7) of wooden logs and wattles which compelled an invader to keep to a narrow and unstable track, as dangerous as any defile in the face of armed Irish kern who, as the reports say, could hop over bogs into which the English soldier would sink.

Mountjoy's strategy was aimed at attacking O'Neill from four sides at once—from Enniskillen on the west, Derry on the north, Carrickfergus on the north-east, and by himself from Dublin. Newry was an important base to him into which supplies could come by sea. But when he reached Dundalk he was cut off from Newry and Armagh, except for the Moyry Pass and that along the lough from Carlingford. Once he could reach Newry his intention was to occupy Armagh, after setting up and provisioning forts between it and Newry, and thence to attack O'Neill at Dungannon.

After Essex's departure Hugh O'Neill had set to work to organize the forces at his disposal on modern lines. He borrowed captains from England to train his " bonaghts " as continental troops. He trained pikemen in Spanish style, also a force of musketeers and calivermen, and imported arms and ammunition for them.

As a result, instead of the more or less unorganised and uncontrolled "rising out" of Shane O'Neill's time, his army was a very efficient and, for the times, modern one, without the sacrifice of any of the national advantages of mobility, of the ability to take cover and to cross boggy and mountainous terrain. His tactics were to fight in carefully selected positions, preferably defiles, woods or bogs. The caliver with a range of 100 yards did not—like the musket—need a separate support and was ideal for the Irish skirmishers, many of whom became good marksmen.

On the other hand, many of the men sent out to Mountjoy from England, compulsorily raised by county sheriffs and mayors, were young and raw, without training. Mountjoy decided to campaign, if possible, all the year round, not confining his fighting to the dry summer months as his predecessors had done. He and his unfortunate men may have regretted this under the continued cataracts of rain which descended on them for many days at Faughart. He did his best to train his levies. 

O'Neill's reply to Mountjoy's plan was to stop his southerly attack at Moyry so as to keep him out of County Armagh, He had the advantage of complete control of the country from the Fews to Fathom, he could come and go as he pleased, to prepare defences, to break up causeways, and to concentrate when and where he wished, while Mountjoy's men had to climb from Dundalk into hostile country, not only wild and rugged but covered in woods and blocked by bogs.

Unfortunately no accounts of this fighting from the Irish side survive, for the entries in the Annals give little information. What we have are reports, formal and informal, from Mountjoy and his subordinates, and the diary of Mountjoy's secretary, Fynes Moryson. Dramatic as some of these are they cannot tell all the story.

No soldier ever willingly left the Court in London to go to Ireland as Elizabeth's representative. Once a man was away in Ireland, every jealous rival he had in England or official in Ireland, circulated criticism of all kinds against the man who could not answer them in person. For reasons such as these, reports from the front to the Secretary or the Privy Council were bound to stress successes and difficulties alike.

What follows is an account of the Moyry struggle, abstracted from Dr. Hayes McCoy's article in The Sword, III, 10.

May,1600

Mountjoy marched unopposed through the Pass to Newry as a diversion at the time of Sir Henry Docwra's landing at Derry. A supporting convoy led by Captain Blayney escorting the Earl of Southampton coming from Dundalk was held up at the Four Mile Water (Flurry river).

Mountjoy marched back to extricate them, whereupon O'Neill, except for 100 skirmishers, withdrew to attack the rear on the convoy. As Mountjoy often found it at the Moyry, rain fell heavily so that neither calivers nor musketeers on either side could use their weapons. We are told that both sides took to swords, pikes and darts, and innumerable stones! In the end 0''Neill withdrew and both army and convoy arrived at Newry.

September, 1600

Mountjoy, with 300 foot and 100 horse, marched from Dundalk to the Hill of Faughart, and camped. O'Neill's forces, which had been earlier seen on the hill, withdrew into the Pass, half a mile north of Faughart. During the night they harassed the camp, shooting some of the soldiers from what we are told was over looking ground, but it is puzzling to find any ground overlooking Faughart Hill and within reach of a musket shot.

September 25 

In heavy mist an advance guard of 100 foot under Captain Thomas Williams, a former defender of Blackwater Fort, made an attempt to enter the Pass, supported by three regiments. The way led down hill into the Pass (B) where it was on all sides naturally "fenced with stony cliffs and thick bushes and trees even to the three mile water or ford " (at Kilnasaggart (C)). They overran one barricade, 140 yards further on they took a second, but could get no further and withdrew with difficulty and losses.

They reported that there were at least three trench barricades (1, 2, 3), a caliver shot apart, across that part of the Pass. Fynes Moryson says O'Neill "raised long traverses with huge and high flankers of great stones, mingled with turf and staked on both sides with Palisadoes wattled." Others describe them as "great hedges" or "a kind of rampire raised upon them with earth and stones and thorn." Where the ground rose above the track O'Neill had "plashed" the undergrowth and trees, making an almost impenetrable barrier of wattles and intertwined branches on either side.

The stream at Kilnasaggart which they called the "three mile water" (C) was at that time swollen with the heavy rain. Mountjoy found later on that between Kilnasaggart and Bollonclare (Jonesboro' D) there were two more barricades (4, 5), the strongest of all.

September 26

Mountjoy's men marched out "to take a better view" of the Pass. From then to October 6 it rained continuously, the wind blew and nothing could be done except mutual taunts and jeers. On this day O'Neill's men were seen approaching as if to attack. Mountjoy advanced in turn against them. After three hours' hot fighting he was again held up before the third barricade. He saw that he had not sufficient forces to overcome not only the third barricade, but the two flooded streams, the broken "causies" through the bogs and reach Newry. Nor could they stay where they were, overlooked on each side by O'Neill skirmishers. He had no alternative but to return back to Faughart, being attacked as he went from both sides and from the rear.

October 5

Mountjoy attempted to outflank the defenders by sending a regiment of 250 men to climb the heights above the Pass on the left, supported by a second regiment. They got into difficulties, the first regiment being in danger of being surrounded. This attempt was no more successful than earlier ones.

Back at Faughart Mountjoy's men were "almost drowned," "without dry clothes for twenty days, many men sick." One officer wrote that he " was hard put to it to keep fires going for his company of raw recruits lately come from England," and that though he plied them with whiskey and wine, eight were down with the ' country disease.'" He believed that the appalling weather had killed more men than had the enemy.

October 9

Mountjoy raised his camp at 'Faughart, retired to Dundalk, and sent to Dublin for 350 picked musketeers and to Newry for muskets and calivers.

October 10

Sir Samuel Bagnall and his regiment were sent to Newry by the Carlingford route 

October 13

O'Neill left the Moiry Pass, going to his haunt in the crannogs of Lough Lurcan and sent his forces towards Armagh.

October 14

Mountjoy hearing of this, marched with his whole force into the now undefended Pass. His captains, when they saw the defences, agreed that "it could not have been taken without intolerable loss."

The next day they dismantled all the barricades and cut back the undergrowth on both sides. Mountjoy moved to Newry and built a fort at Mount Norris, half-way between Newry and Armagh, abandoning his original intention of occupying Armagh.

In other words, 'Neill's successful defence of the Pass had compelled Mountjoy to give up the campaign for that year. When he returned from Mount Norris he avoided the Pass, marching from Newry to Dundalk via Carlingford. But O'Neill had not drawn away so far as he imagined, for with a small force he moved down from Fathom hill and with trenches, barricades and " half-moons," ambushed Mountjoy's four foot regiments. It was only after a sharp fight and at the expense of 20 casualties that the English force reached Carlingford and safety, after they had " charged,

colours and all" to keep O'Neill at bay.

1601

Mountjoy built the castle at the northern end of the Pass (E) with a garrison to keep it open. He went south and won the battle of Kinsale. Having failed to prevent O'Neill's forced march from County Cork back to Ulster, he went north again, mached to the Blackwater, built the fort of Charlemont and burned Dungannon.

1603

Hugh O'Neill came to Sir Garrett Moore's house at Mellifont and surrendered to Mountjoy, receiving a pardon of his life and lands. Mountjoy sailed from Waterford to England accompanied by Hugh O'Neill and Niall Garve O'Donnell.

1606

Mountjoy died of pneumonia on April 3rd.

---------------------------------------------------

The making of a relief model of the Pass, using the 100 foot contours on the 6" Ordnance Survey Maps, besides being an interesting occupation, helped one to understand the events, assisted to some degree by the somewhat sketchy contemporary maps.

Although it is not easy to fathom where the miles were calculated from, it was easy to identify the "three mile " and "four mile waters," to see where the barricades were built and the positions of the "causies." From enquiries it was interesting to find that the name " Bollinclare," used in the seventeenth century, had survived until recent days as the Irish name of Jonesboro'—Bealach an Clair, the road through the marshy ground.

It was hoped that a photograph of the relief model could have been used to illustrate this article, but in spite of trying several different angles of lighting the relief did not show up properly and the colouring made it confused. Instead a map diagram, very kindly made by Mr, Robert Lambert, has been used. It gives names of places and identifying letters and figures.

A very interesting set of seventeenth-century maps, one of which includes this country, is in course of reproduction by the Irish MSS Commission, accompanied by introductory notes by Professor Hayes-McCoy, but although the Commission have kindly allowed part to be reproduced in our Journal, the permission is deferred until the maps are published.

LORD MOUNTJOY

[Abstracted from Fall's Mountjoy, Elizabethan General}

Charles Blount, Lord Mountjoy, born in 1563, was only thirty-six years of age when he was sent by Queen Elizabeth to Ireland as Viceroy. He was an unusual character—soldier, courtier, dandy, scholar and bookman, deeply religious, tolerant, towards Roman Catholics. He had studied theology and could speak French and Italian, had been wounded in the Low Countries and served

on the flagship against the Armada and had taken part in the so-called "Islands Voyage," Essex's futile expedition to the Azores. His studies of war left him very impressed by the principle of surprise.

Father Jones says that "it is no exaggeration to say that Mountjoy's campaign in Ireland affords the first example in modern history of the co-operation and co-ordination of the land and sea arm."
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